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ABOUT CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL 

Background 

CYLC was first recognised as the Native Title Represenatative Body  for the Cooktown 

region by the Commonwealth Minister for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Affairs in 

1993.  Since that time, the organisation has undergone numerous reviews and obtained 

re-recognition, currently holding this until 30 June 2013.  At this time we will apply to be 

recognised for a further period, ensuring Aboriginal people of Cape York have a voice 

representing them in all matters relating to land and sea on their traditional lands.   

It is CYLC’s vision to be recognised as a key part of a network of specialist community-

based organisations representing the interests of the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York, 

focusing on achieving timely and meaningful outcomes for constituents on land and Native 

Title matters within the region. 

 

Photo 1  Presentation by Wik Dancers to Noel Pearson at 20 year celebration formal dinner 

Mission Statement and Values 

  

About CYLC 
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Our Mission Statement, as set down by elders who have now left us, but whose vision 

remains amongst those who continue to fight to ensure that the original objectives of 

CYLCAC are followed. 

 “Consult with, and according to their directions, effectively represent, 

the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York to regain rights to land and sea 

so we can preserve our culture and make our own decisions to 

achieve a better future.” 

The original Charter of CYLC, resolved at the Cape York Land Summit, held at Lockyer 

River in 1990 identified a number of aims including: 

 Providing a vehicle for self-determination for the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York; 

 Providing a representative voice for Aboriginal peoples of Cape York in relation to 

land issues; 

 Respecting and recognising land rights and responsibilities of traditional owners of 

land in Cape York; 

 Respecting the culture of the Aboriginal peoples of Cape York Peninsula; 

 Transparency and accountability to Government and traditional owners and partners; 

and 

 Providing opportunities for Cape York people to acquire management skills 

appropriate to the needs of their communities. 

 

Photo 2  Wik Dancers performing traditional dance at 20 year celebrations formal dinner 
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REPORT FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 

Dear Elders, families and friends 

As you know, the Cape York Land Council was founded to 

advance the self-determination of Aboriginal people of Cape York 

Peninsula, ensure the continuation of traditional culture, provide for 

general social welfare, and ascertain the wishes, aspirations and 

opinions of its members relating to the management, use and 

control of traditional Aboriginal land in Cape York.  Over the years 

we have worked hard to meet the aspirations of our people and I 

am proud to provide the report on our operations during the past 

year as testament to our relentless and pragmatic approach to the 

assertion of Native Title rights in Cape York Peninsula. 

In August last year, the Cape York Land Council celebrated its 20th anniversary, being 

founded on the beach at the old Lockhart River mission in 1990.  The Land Council has 

experienced many trials and tribulations through those times from change management 

processes, countless government reviews and re-recognitions but we have always stood 

as the strong message stick our Elders envisioned we should be. 

We needed to commemorate our 20 years as a way of acknowledging the many 

achievements made over that time but more importantly to pay our respects to the 

influential and charismatic leaders who helped forge the Land Council - many of whom 

have passed.  As I listened to the speeches and looked around I quickly realised this was 

a poignant celebration significant for not who was there, but who was not.  This Annual 

Report is dedicated to the memory of those Elders passed – their vision, their drive, their 

wisdom, their generosity of spirit and their good sense of humour.  Those old people told 

the best yarns.  

Board members would often express their frustrations over the two year timeframe for the 

Board.  They felt that there was insufficient time to see through a strategic or policy 

direction they set.  A resolution was put to members through a Special General Meeting 

held in August 2011 and members voted to increase the term of the Board of Directors to 

four years.  The Special General Meeting also acknowledge the large number of Cape 

York Traditional Owners residing in the Cairns region and resolved to include a 

‘community representative’ from Cairns as a member on the CYLC Board of Directors. 

Shortly after the Special General Meeting, elections for the new Cape York Land Council 

Board of Directors were held in Cairns and across the Cape during November 2011.  The 

Annual General Meeting of 30 November 2011 accepted the now current Board of 

Directors to hold office for the next four years to 2015.  I was once again humbled when 

my fellow Directors elected me unopposed as Chairman.  I was indeed pleased to 

welcome back Mr Robbie Salee as Deputy Chairperson. 

Report from the Chairperson 
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The Board of Directors set to work straight away on supporting Land Council management 

and staff to guide the organisation in accordance with our founding philosophy forged on 

that Lockhart beach more than 20 years ago.  We have worked with the senior 

management team on community consultations including native title applications, the 

Future Acts and Mineral Exploration team in information sessions, the community 

relations team across a number of areas including the function of Registered Native title 

Bodies Corporate.  We have also been strong advocates for meaningful Traditional Owner 

engagement in the management of Turtle and Dugong, the abolition of draconian policies 

such as the Wild Rivers policy, the development of sensible approaches to affordable 

housing in Cape York and greater support for our innovations that build the capacity of our 

mobs to manage their Native Title. 

This year the Board endorsed (along with FAHCSIA) a trial of a dual CEO role.  While 

Peter Callaghan still oversaw the overall operations of the CYLC, Kirstyne Broderick 

(Deputy CEO) was asked to advise the Board on the emerging issues affecting Native title 

holders that require Cape York communities and suggest ways the CYLC can position 

itself to provide the best support for our mobs.  The dual CEO’s operated for 7 months 

and in that time the Land Council recognised the need to broaden our focus to issues 

effecting Traditional Owners post Native Title determination, while still remaining 

committed to resolving our current Native Title applications still in progress.   

At the end of the 2011/2012 financial year the Board endorsed an organisational change 

and we now have two core groups within the organisation.  They are the Native Title Unit 

and Finance Unit within one group and the Future Acts and Mineral Exploration Unit and 

Prescribed Bodies Corporate Support Unit in the Community Relations group.  The 

Community Relations is a new group focussing on supporting our community members, 

Native Title applicants and members of Prescribed Bodes Corporate on matters including 

capacity building, compliance and mining matters, ensuring clear communication between 

CYLC and the Cape York communities.  This ensures that we are able to support the 

communities in all matters affecting Traditional Owners rights to land and sea, now and 

into the future. 

Looking forward the Cape York Land Council has a busy year ahead with two consent 

Native Title determinations scheduled: 1. the last part of the Wik determinations held on 

Thursday 11 October 2012 in Aurukun; and 2. the Native Title determination at 

Kowanyama proposed before the end of 2012. 

Finally I would like to take this opportunity to thank the Board for their commitment and 

tireless support.  Together we remain committed to creating a better future for Cape York 

communities in areas such as land management, education, economic development, 

training, and policy development. 
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REPORT FROM THE CEO 

In August 2011 the Cape York Land Council (CYLC) 

celebrated 20 years of Native Title service to Traditional 

Owners across Cape York Peninsula.  I am proud to have 

been Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at the CYLC for the past 

7 of those 20 years.  During my time, the organisation has 

grown significantly into a strong team capable of working to 

the strategic directions set by the Board of Directors and 

achieving the founding philosophy of CYLC.  The CYLC’s founding philosophy is always 

at our core: advancing the self-determination of Cape York Traditional Owners, ensuring 

the continuation of traditional culture, providing for general social welfare, and ascertain 

the wishes, aspirations and opinions of its members relating to the management, use and 

control of traditional Aboriginal land in Cape York. 

After 7 years at the CYLC, the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) departed in October 2011.  

His departure gave us the opportunity to develop other staff within the finance team 

(including 2 Indigenous staff).  Darren Sullivan has since been appointed Finance 

Manager operating under my qualifications as a Certified Practising Accountant.  Darren is 

undertaking studies with JCU to attain the necessary qualifications required to fulfil this 

role. 

Management have successfully recruited 3 new Senior Legal Officers to CYLC to 

strengthen the function of the Native Title Unit (NTU).  In December we recruited a new 

Manager in the Prescribed Body Corporate Support Unit.  This position is an integral part 

with Senior Management to re-building and strengthening community relations with Cape 

York Traditional Owners. 

Growing the Corporation to include two distinct functions - NTU and Community Relations 

– was endorsed by the Board at the end of this reporting period, in July 2012, and is now 

reflected in the organisational structure going forward.  This new structure sees the 

Deputy CEO as responsible for the Community Relations function of CYLC, including the 

administrative support. 

A fair amount of time this year has been spent providing strategic financial support to 

some of our sister organisations.  During my absence, I established (with the 

endorsement of the Board and FaHCSIA approval) a dual CEO role which Kirstyne 

Broderick stepped into.  Kirstyne did a fantastic job during that time and I would like to 

take this opportunity to thank her for her hard work and tenacity.   

Yet in those seven short months CYLC staff and Board members have been working hard 

to rebuild our relationships with mobs in the Cape.  We have been working closely with 

community members to address issues affecting them daily including Prescribed Body 

Corporate (PBC) support, mining and exploration, economic development, education, 

training and getting back on country.  For example the Future Acts, Mining and 

Exploration (FAME) Unit has developed an engagement procedure aimed at ensuring the 

Report from the Chief Executive Officer 
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CYLC keeps mobs informed about mining activities in their native title area – what their 

rights are, what resources are available to them, what mechanisms are available to 

protect country especially areas of cultural importance. 

Examples of our work processes have been presented at national meetings like the Native 

Title Conference in Townsville.  Kirstyne Broderick was part of a panel speaking on the 

topic, Aiming High: the new demands in indigenous self-governance with Mick Dodson, 

Anthony Bevan (from the Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations) and Neil 

Steritt (from Canada).   

Speaking at forums like the Native Title Conference has given us the opportunity to 

present broadly our plans to develop training packages that address the needs of the mob 

and their corporations within Cape York.  We recognise that the capacity of our mob and 

their corporations are at various levels and our aim is to ensure effective governance 

while being able to balance the expectations not only of the membership, but also ORIC 

who administer the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006.  

To close, I would like to briefly mention that the financial audit conducted by KPMG in 

2011 was unqualified.  In fact the auditor commented on the excellent financial 

management of CYLC at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).  I would like to thank the 

staff of CYLC for their support and commitment to our achievements during the past year. 

I would also like to welcome the new board and particularly thank the Chairperson, 

Richard Ah Mat for his support and guidance. 

 

Photo 3 Lockhart River 
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OUR ROLE AND FUNCTIONS 

CYLC undertakes a range of statutory functions in connection with Native Title as defined 

under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth.).  These functions include: 

 Facilitation and assistance functions (s203BB); 

 Certification functions (s203BE); 

 Dispute resolution functions (s203BF); 

 Notification functions (s203BG); 

 Agreement-making functions (s203BH); 

 Internal review functions (s203BI); and 

 Other functions (s203BJ and s203AI). 

CYLC operates under the guidelines of the FaHCSIA Program Funding Agreement and 

the requirements of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 

(Cth.). 

Irrespective of any prioritisation of functions or allocation of resources that a NTRB may 

be required to determine, their ultimate priority must be the protection of Native Title 

holders’ interests (s203B(4)). 

 

Photo 4  Chairperson, Richard Ah Mat delivering a tribute to Elders at CYLC 20th 
Anniversary dinner 

Our Role and Functions 
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NTRB Boundary Map 

The map below shows CYLC’s NTRB Boundary Area and CYLC’s current NTDA.  The 

map was provided by the NNTT. 

 

Figure 1 CYLC NTRB Boundary map Area 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Corporate Governance Policies 

The CYLC is incorporated under the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders) 

Act 2006, known as CATSI Act which was passed by the Australian Parliament on 18 

October 2006 and introduced into effect on 1 July 2007. The CATSI Act replaced the 

Aboriginal Councils and Associations Act 1976 (Cth.), or ACA Act, and CYLC registered a 

new CATSI Act compliant Constitution (or Rule Book) with the Office of the Registrar of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Corporations (ORATSIC). ORATSIC granted an 

exemption to allow CYLC to have a Board of 17 Directors.   

The Board of Directors is responsible for governance of CYLC.  This includes the setting 

of the broad strategic direction for the organisation.  The Strategic direction is supported 

by the operational plan that details activities, associated resources and performance 

information.  The NTU produces work plans for all matters, in line with the operational 

plan.  All activities are related to an output within the outcomes and outputs framework. 

In accordance with the Constitution of CYLC, the Board of Directors has responsibility for: 

Receiving and considering reports from the CEO and other senior staff regarding the work 

of CYLC; 

 Monitoring the financial position of CYLC; 

 Deciding on allocation of resources to particular projects; 

 Being informed of changes or proposed changes to the way the CYLC conducts its 

work; 

 Dealing with complaints; and 

 Other functions as delegated from time to time. 

Board of Directors  

The CYLC requires its Directors to observe the highest standards of conduct and ethical 

behaviour in all of their activities. The CYLC Board of Directors follows a Code of Conduct 

for CYLC Board of Directors, endorsed and tabled at the first meeting of the newly elected 

Board of Directors.  The understanding and awareness of CYLC Policy, Procedure and 

Separation of Powers (see Figure 2) are an important part of the induction and training of 

Corporate Governance 
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all Board members.  The purpose of this is to assist the Directors in carrying out their 

duties under the CATSI Act 2006, the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth.), the CYLC Rule Book 

and other legislation.  

Following the Special General Meeting of CYLC members in September 2011, the CYLC 

Rule Book was amended to allow for a seat on the Board of Directors from the Cairns 

community.  This allows for members of Cape York, who reside in Cairns for work, family 

or health reasons, to continue to represent their community in matters affecting traditional 

owners’ rights to land and sea in Cape York.  A further amendment saw the term of office 

for the Board of Directors extended from 2 to 4 years.   

The full Board of Directors meets at least four times a year as per the rules of the CATSI 

Act. The Board guides the policies and strategic direction of CYLC, after consideration of 

reports from Senior Management.  

Table 1 List of Board Members 2011-2015 and meeting attendance 

Community 
Meetings eligible 
to attend 

Director 
Meetings 
attended 

Alternate Director 
Meetings 
attended  

Aurukun  5 Phyllis Yunkaporta 2 Bruce Martin 0 

Cairns 5 Richard Ah Mat 5 Fred Joseph 0 

Coen 5 Allan Creek 5 Dion Creek 0 

Cooktown 5 Brian Cobus 4 Ron Harrigan 0 

Hopevale 5 Elizabeth Lakefield 1 Gerhardt Pearson 1 

Injinoo 5 Robbie Salee 5 Meun Lifu 0 

Kowanyama 5 Aaron Teddy 2 Anzac Frank 0 

Laura 5 Fred Coleman 4 Tracey Lowdown 0 

Lockhart River 5 Toby Accoom 5 Greta Accoom 0 

Mapoon 5 Neomi Roseblade 3 Delores Nixon 1 

Mossman 5 Donna Henning 0 Karen Gibson 0 

Napranum 5 Sarina Adams 2 Josie Blanco 0 

New Mapoon 5 Clara Day 4 Geraldine York 1 

Pormpuraaw 5 Richard Tarpencha 1 Lenny Ned 0 

Port Stewart 5 Gavin Bassani 1 Elaine Liddy 1 

Umagico 5 Bernard Charlie 4 Gwen Toby 0 

Wujal Wujal 5 Doreen Jones 3 Doreen Ball 0 

At these meetings, the Committees accept reports from the CEO, Deputy CEO, PLO and 

Finance Manager.  The Board makes decisions on the activities of CYLC after 

consideration of these reports and other advice provided by the Management Team.   
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Training and Development of Board Members 

Board Members are made aware of the responsibilities that accompany their positions on 

the Board as part of the election process.  Further training and workshops are also part of 

ongoing development.  Governance Training is proposed for February 2013 to allow the 

Board of Directors to perform in their duties in accordance with the Program Funding 

Application, responsibilities of an NTRB under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth.) and in 

adhering to the principles of good governance.  

The Board of Directors provides strategic direction to the organisation.  Reporting by the 

Management Team on all areas of CYLC operations takes place at each meeting of the 

Board of Directors and allows the Management Team to take direction from the Board and 

set targets which will complement the aims of the community members.  

Figure 2 The Operational Structure of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation 
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Corporate and Operational Planning  

One way the CYLC sets targets is through the process of preparing Operational Plans for 

FaHCSIA.  CYLC management is particularly guided by the Federal Court Work Plan for 

each Native Title Determination Application.  CYLC’s Work Plans identify objectives and 

outputs to be achieved in the agreed Court timeframe and are developed based on priority 

status so that resources are not wasted. CYLC is addressing this claim by claim through a 

strategy that focuses attention on sub-regions and is designed to potentially consolidate 

claims, resolve overlaps and inter/intra-Indigenous disputes and, when the other parties 

agree, reduce the volume of research and negotiation required leading towards consent 

determinations and other tenure outcomes. These Work Plans and claim strategies are 

articulated in the CYLC Operational Plan and document how FaHCSIA funding is 

allocated. 

Risk Management 

The financial affairs of the CYLC come under the scrutiny of the Finance Manager and the 

CEO.  Regular reports are provided and matters of concern are taken to the Board of 

Directors.  In addition to this an independent financial audit of CYLC is undertaken shortly 

after the end of each financial year and reported to the Board of Directors and the 

membership of CYLC.  CYLC is very proud of its record in obtaining clean audits for the 

past five years.   

Ethical Standards 

In addition to the CYLC Code of Conduct, employees and Board Members have a set of 

policies which form an important part of reinforcing high ethical standards.  There is a high 

level of awareness amongst staff of ethical issues and good practical application of that 

knowledge.  CYLC management has taken further action to increase awareness of these 

standards by placing informative material on the notice boards and common areas of the 

office.  These include Anti-Discrimination awareness posters and brochures.   

In this reporting year we have taken additional steps to consult to have our WH&S policies 

reviewed and training has commenced in relevant areas of CYLC Policy including Bullying 

and Harrassment.  

In relation to Lawyers employed by CYLC, rules made by the Queensland Law Society 

under authority of the Legal Profession Act 2004 (Qld) require all Lawyers to undertake 

compulsory professional development in ethics every second year.  

CYLC seeks ways to have the topic commonly arise in the workplace and to provide the 

opportunity for non-lawyer employees and the Board of Directors to attend courses.  In 

addition, Lawyers with up-to-date knowledge can provide in-house training for staff and 

Board members if required. 
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OUR TEAM 

Peter Callaghan, the CEO of CYLC, is responsible for the daily management of CYLC and 

oversees the day-to-day functions of the organisation.  The Chief Executive Officer is 

assisted by a management team and staff working within the Cairns office and the 

Cooktown and Weipa regional offices.  The Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Principal 

Legal Officer (PLO) and Finance Manager comprise the mangement team and support the 

CEO and report on their departmental activities at each Board meeting.   

Kirstyne Broderick is the Deputy CEO of CYLC, and supports the CEO in the 

management of daily operations while working with guidance from both the CEO and 

Board of Directors to ensure CYLC’s corporation vision is maintained through strong 

working relationships with community members.  This role has grown in the reporting 

period from responsibility of Human Resource Management of the organisation to working 

closely with our community members through the recently endorsed Community Relations 

Unit.  The purpose of this unit is to listen and respond to the native title aspirations of the 

people of Cape York.  While Native Title is commonly viewed as a modern and legalised 

process,  the Board of Directors have set a strategic direction on emphasising the visions 

and goals set down more than 22 years ago to ensure that CYLC future direction is 

carried from community members through to the board and then implemented by 

managmeent.  The Deputy CEO works closely with the staff within this unit to support 

community members in areas of RNTBC compliance and capacity building, FAME 

management and public relations.   

Matthew Moharich, the Principal Legal Officer (PLO) of CYLC, is responsible for the 

effective running of the NTU.  The NTU consists of two separate Units- Claims Unit and 

State Land Dealings Unit.   

Darren Sullivan,  Finance Manager  of CYLC, is responsible for the effective running of 

the Finance Unit.  The Finance Manager is also responsible for supporting Human 

Resource management and the management and advice on running of the CYLC vehicle 

fleet.    

The Deputy CEO,  PLO, and Finance Manager report to the CEO and provide reports to 

the Board of Directors at each meeting. 

An outline of the organisational structure of Cape York Land Council is shown at Figure 3 

Our Team 
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Figure 3 CYLC Organisational Structure at 30 June 2012 
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EXECUTIVE UNIT REPORT 

The Executive Unit report addresses the performance of the CYLC’s Executive Unit in 

fulfilling their roles and responsibilities within the CYLC Native Title Representative Body 

(NTRB) Cape York Region. The report provides an overview of: 

 the work performed concerning the notification and other activities regarding 

Future Acts; 

 the support and assistance provided for the eight (8) CYLC Prescribed Body 

Corporates (PBCs); 

 the CYLC strategic engagement with legislative and procedural reforms that 

impact on CYLC’s capacity to deliver services to traditional owners in protecting 

their native title rights and interests. 

Strategic Outcomes Unit 

CYLC engaged with legislative and procedural reforms that impact on CYLC’s capacity to 

deliver services to traditional owners in protecting their native title rights and interests. 

During 2011-2012 CYLC made numerous submissions in response to Commonwealth, 

State and Local Government legislative and policy reforms that impact on native title rights 

and interests. 

For example, submissions were made to the Queensland State Government by CYLC 

regarding and in response to: 

 The State’s Indigenous Fishing Strategy; 

 The State’s proposed “Template” Pastoral Lease ILUA and related legislative 

amendments; 

 The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Land Holding Bill 2011. 

Submissions were made to the Commonwealth Government in response to:- 

 The Green’s Native Title Reform Bills; 

 The Commonwealth’s Native Title Respondent Funding Scheme Review; 

 The Commonwealth’s consideration of the definition of “charity” as part of its 

review of Not-For-Profit entities; 

 Operation of the Native Title Act Subdivision 24JAA; and 

 The draft National Wildlife Corridor Plan. 

Executive Unit Report 
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In April 2009, the state government declared the Archer, Stewart and Lockhart Rivers 

under the Wild Rivers Act 2005.  Consent was not obtained from traditional owners to 

these Declarations, and submissions were made to the Government expressing grave 

concerns about the legislation and the declaration proposals were ignored in their final 

assessment. CYLC, Balkanu and the Cape York Institute have continued since that time 

to actively lobby against the declarations of Wild Rivers under the Wild Rivers Act 2005.  

During 2011-2012 CYLC has pursued legal action in the Federal Court, against the 

Queensland Government, citing an infringement of native title rights, breaches of the 

Racial Discrimination Act and breaches of legislative process and ministerial powers in the 

State’s processes when declaring the Archer, Stewart and Lockhart Rivers.  CYLC also 

lobbied the LNP during the State election campaign and obtained a commitment for the 

Wild Rivers declarations to be reviewed. CYLC has continued to press the LNP to meet 

this commitment since it formed government in April 2012.  

CYLC continued to provide assistance to traditional owner groups on a range of other 

issues, including: 

 Advice and assistance to resolve issues associated with the exercise of native 

title on Aboriginal freehold land; 

 Analysis of cultural heritage processes for inclusion in ILUAs; 

 Liaison with Cape York regional organisations to contribute to submissions and 

representations to the State and Commonwealth governments regarding the 

State’s Land Tenure Inquiry; 

 Preparation of a “Cape York” pastoral lease ILUA template; and 

 Provision of advice and assistance regarding s211 of the Native Title Act 1993 

(Cth.) and the exercise of certain native title rights and interests under existing or 

proposed determinations of native title. 

Prescribed Body Corporate Unit 

The Prescribed Body Corporate (PBC) Support Unit has worked hard over the past year 

to provide effective administrative, logistical and strategic support to the eight (8) 

registered PBC entities within the CYLC’s jurisdiction, namely: 

 Abm Elgoring Ambung Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 7163) in 

Kowanyama; 

 Dhubbi Warra Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 2833) in Hopevale; 

 Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 3135) at Hopevale; 
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 Jabalbina Yalanji Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 7002) based in Mossman; 

 Kuuku Ya'u Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 7193) at Lockhart River; 

 Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 4097) in Aurukun; 

 Thaa-Nguigarr Strathgordon Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 4732) at 

Pormpuraaw; and 

 Walmbaar Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC (ICN 3144) based in Hopevale. 

The PBC Support Unit has supported each PBC to help them meet their compliance 

requirements under the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006, 

including assistance at quarterly Boards of Directors meetings and Annual General 

Meetings.  Each PBC in Cape York Peninsula is compliant and members have been 

developing a solid strategic vision for their respective PBC. 

Over the past twelve months the PBC Support Unit has supported a strategic planning 

workshop in Pormpuraaw with members of the Thaa Nguigarr Strathgordon Aboriginal 

Corporation RNTBC.  The Support Unit has also been involved in the development of 

business plans with Hopevale Congress and the Kowanyama PBC, Abm Elgoring 

Ambung Aboriginal Corporation.  All of these plans provide good examples of the types of 

capacity building activities that require immediate funding and investment over the longer 

term in order to help our people realise self-determination.   

Any investment must represent good value for all parties.  The PBC Support Unit has 

been working on the development of a PBC governance training package to be delivered 

through the CYLC.  A training workshop was trialed with members of the Kuuku Ya’u 

Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC in Lockhart River.  This workshop was well received and 

has provided the CYLC with impetus to seek greater involvement from agencies such as 

the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs and the 

Office of the Registrar of Indigenous Corporation.  There are obvious benefits of being 

able to deliver PBC training courses through the CYLC including: 

 shorter travelling distances;  

 our existing relationships built on mutual respect and good will; and  

 being in tune with each PBC to tailor make training sessions that suit the 

requirements of individual PBC Board members. 
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Future Acts Unit 

Future acts notifications are received from State and Federal Governments and other 

authorities which propose to grant permits, licenses or other rights to people which may 

have an impact on Native Title rights.  Depending on the rights being applied for traditional 

owners have various rights to notification, comment, consultation, and negotiation in 

relation to the granting of permits. Notifications relating to mineral exploration permits and 

applications were received and reviewed for impact on native title rights.  

In February 2012 a Future Act – Mining & Exploration (FAME) section was established 

and the way in which Future Act Notifications (FANs) were processed was restructured in 

order to improve service delivery. Since its establishment the FAME section has: 

 Developed a series of internal procedures to streamline and improve service 

delivery; 

 Commenced a strategic review of FAME matters in the various regions of Cape 

York based on anthropological, tenure and historic and current mining and 

exploration activities. This review is ongoing and is intended to improve service 

delivery; 

 Planned, organised and undertook FAME capacity building sessions with 

traditional owners in Injinoo, New Mapoon, Weipa, Aurukun and Pormpuraaw.  

These sessions were undertaken with the assistance of the National Native Title 

Tribunal who advised on the NNTT’s role in arbitrating FAME matters and 

associated technical aspects; 

 Commenced a strategic review of exploration agreements in Cape York. This 

review is ongoing and is intended to lead to a model exploration agreement that 

can be modified to suit individual client and explorer requirements; and 

 Responded and delivered in relation to a number of native title claim, mapping 

and tenure inquiries from both within CYLC and from external clients. 

Table 2  Summary of Future Act Notices Received 

Date Received Agency Total 
Received 

01/07/11 – 30/06/12 Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority 243 

01/07/11 – 30/06/12 Department of Employment, Economic Development & 
Innovation 

232 

31/10/11 Aurecom 2 

01/07/11 – 30/06/12 Department of Environment and Resource Management 206 

                                                                                  TOTAL               683 
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NATIVE TITLE UNIT REPORT 

This section provides reports on the performance of the CYLC’s Native Title Unit (NTU) in 

fulfilling their roles and responsibilities within the CYLC Native Title Representative Body 

(NTRB) Cape York Region. The NTU report specifically addresses the legal and 

anthropological services provided and outcomes achieved in relation to the 21 native title 

determination applications (NTDAs) within the NTRB region. These are framed within the 

context of the regional research strategy adopted by CYLC since 2008. 

The NTU also works to achieve land tenure outcomes and Indigenous Land Use 

Agreements (ILUAs) registered as part of the State Land Dealings (SLD) and National 

Park Transfers programs; 

During 2011-2012 the Native Title Unit (NTU) has been actively involved in the final stage 

negotiations for Cape York Land Council’s (CYLC) two highest priority Native Title 

Determination Applications (NTDAs): 

 Wik People (Part B) (QUD6001B/98); and 

 Kowanyama People (Part B and Part C) (QUD6119/98). 

A Federal Court consent determination hearings have been scheduled to occur for both 

matters which are to be held at Aurukun and Kowanyama respectively by the end of 2012. 

Of the 21 NTDAs within CYLC’s NTRB region see Table 3, CYLC represented the 

Applicant in 18 of these Federal Court matters. HWL Ebsworth Lawyers provided legal 

services regarding the Wik People NTDA with support and assistance from CYLC. The 

Wuthathi People #2 (QUD6022/02) and Ankamuthi People (QUD6158/98) were not 

represented or provided assistance during this reporting period. The NTU has made 

significant progress in addressing anthropological research and native title connection 

issues for each of these claims based on the regional research strategy that has been 

applied by CYLC since 2008. 

Regional Research Strategy 

In late 2008, CYLC entered into discussions with the Commonwealth Government and the 

State of Queensland to consider options for broader settlement of native title claims on a 

regional basis on Cape York.  Based on these discussions the Commonwealth Attorney-

General, the Queensland Minister for Natural Resources and Water, and the Chairperson 

of CYLC released a joint communique on Native Title on 20 August 2008 on the 

Native Title Unit Report 
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commitment of the parties to sub-regional negotiations that address both tenure issues 

and native title. This broader settlement framework has been in practice with the 

Kowanyama People NTDA (QUD which had a consent determination hearing for Part A in 

October 2009 and as seen above Part B and Part C have been scheduled to occur by the 

end of 2012. 

For anthropological research; NTDA consolidation and reformulating purposes CYLC has 

identified research regions as part of this strategic approach to an inclusive cultural land 

tenure model. This regional research will provide a basis that will greatly assist in CYLC’s 

mediation with the State on connection and in achieving a sustainable claim group 

management of land post-determination. 

In addition to the Kowanyama and Wik regions, CYLC has identified four regions for the 

regional anthropological research purposes described as Northern Cape York, East Cape 

York, South East Cape York and Central Cape York and various stages of anthropological 

research and field work has been conducted throughout these regions and is reported on 

as follows. 
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Native Title Determination Applications 

Table 3  CYLC Native Title Determination Applications during 2011-2012. 

No. 
Federal Court File 
Number 

Federal Court File Name 

1.  QUD6001B/98 Wik People (Part B) 

2.  QUD156/11 Northern Cape York Group #2 

3.  QUD157/11 Northern Cape York Group #1 

4.  QUD6158/98 Ankamuthi People 

5.  QUD6009/02 Weipa Peninsula People 

6.  QUD6023/02 Wuthathi, Kuuku Ya’u & Northern Kaanju Peoples 

7.  QUD6152/98 Northern Kaanju & Yianh People 

8.  QUD20/11 Northern Kaanju People 

9.  QUD6119/98 Kowanyama People 

10.  QUD6155/98 Kalpowar Holdings  

11.  QUD6014/99 Juunyjuwarra People 

12.  QUD352/06 Archer Point 

13.  QUD452/06 Melsonby (Gaarraay) People 

14.  QUD6008/03 Olkola People 

15.  QUD6009/03 Olkola & Thaypan People 

16.  QUD6010/03 Olkola/Fairlight 

17.  QUD6012/03 Ayaputhu & Olkola People 

18.  QUD6013/03 Olkola Strathleven King Junction 

19.  QUD1/2005 Olkola # 2 

20.  QUD269/08 Gudang Yadhaykenu People Sea Claim 

21.  QUD6022/02 Wuthathi People #2 
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Indigenous Land Use Agreements 

During 2011-2012 there were three Area Agreement ILUAs and one Body Corporate ILUA 

registered by the National Native Title Tribunal (NNTT) (see Table 2). The three Area 

Agreement ILUAs were negotiated by CYLC lawyers as part of the SLD and National Park 

Transfers process 

Table 4  Indigenous Land Use Agreements registered with the Native Title Tribunal during 
2011-2012 

REGISTRATION DATE 
INDIGENOUS LAND USE 

AGREEMENTS 
ILUA TYPE 

30  September  2011 Munburra ILUA Area Agreement 

2 December 2011 
Hopevale Congress Aboriginal 
Corporation Body Corporate 

ILUA 
Body Corporate Agreement 

6 February 2012 
Rinyirru (Lakefield) National 
Park (Cape York Peninsula 

Aboriginal Land) ILUA 
Area Agreement 

6 February 2012 
Iron Range, Portland Roads and 

Islands ILUA 
Area Agreement 

The following addresses the performance of the NTU during 2011-12 and is framed as an 

overview of the outcomes achieved by CYLC regarding Kowanyama and Wik and the four 

regions identified within the NTU for native title research purposes including Northern 

Cape York; East Cape York; South East Cape York; and Central Cape York. 
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 KOWANYAMA 

The Kowanyama People (QUD6119/98) NTDA was filed on 25 March 1997, and entered 

on the Register of Native Title Claims on 24 December 2001.  In October 2009 the 

Federal Court along with the Applicant, State of Queensland and Commonwealth have 

made the resolution that the Kowanyama NTDA was a high priority for all parties and, to 

avoid delays, as part of this process it has been broken into three areas known as Part A, 

Part B and Part C. On 22 October 2009 the Kowanyama People had their predominantly 

exclusive native title rights and interests recognised by the Federal Court of Australia over 

2,730 square kilometres of land and waters at a consent determination hearing held at 

Kowanyama. The area covered by Part A related to the bulk of the Deed of Grant in Trust, 

or DOGIT area, and a small intertidal zone. 

This was a significant achievement for the Kowanyama People as their native title rights 

and interests were recognised as existing over that area through a continuation of 

connection to country and through an acknowledgement and observation of the traditional 

laws and customs for that region. As required CYLC set up a PBC for the Kowanyama 

People to hold and manage their land called ‘Abm Elgoring Ambung Aboriginal 

Corporation’ RNTBC. The PBC was registered by Office of the Registrar of Indigenous 

Corporations on 17 December 2008. 

During 2011-12, the NTU staff made significant progress towards a consent determination 

and, pending final negotiations taking place, a Federal Court hearing on that matter has 

been scheduled by the end of 2012 for both Part B (covering pastoral properties) and Part 

C (covering the Kowanyama Township). NNTT mediation teleconferences between the 

parties were held and a mediation meeting was convened by the NNTT in Brisbane to 

discuss issues including the Pastoral ILUA and draft consent determination. CYLC held 

meetings on country with the native title claim group and the NNTT convened a mediation 

conference in Kowanyama to discuss tenure resolution proposal and ILUA for the 

Kowanyama Township and DOGIT transfer. Following final negotiations and rafting of the 

consent determination a Federal Court consent determination hearings is scheduled to 

occur at Kowanyama for Part B and Part C by the end of 2012. 

 WIK & WIK WAY 

The Wik & Wik Way Peoples # 1 (QUD6001/98) have successfully negotiated the terms of 

a consent determination of native title over the remaining areas of the original native title 

claim that was lodged in 1994.  This consent determination will be the fifth and final 
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consent determination for the Wik & Wik Way People and will bring to an end almost 

twenty years of native title litigation.  

Since the original native title claim was lodged in 1994, the Wik & Wik Way Peoples have 

obtained four separate determinations of native title in 2000, 2004 (two) and 2009. The 

remaining areas of land and waters that have been the subject of negotiations for the final 

determination of native title are covered by term leases for pastoral purposes and fall 

within the local government area of Cook Shire Council. The remaining areas include all of 

Kendall River and Watson River Pastoral Stations and parts of Merluna, Piccaninny Plains 

and Crystalvale Pastoral Stations. In 2004, the Wik & Wik Way People's native title was 

recognised over Merapah, Holroyd River, Strathburn and Southwell Pastoral Stations.   

Between July 2011 and June 2012 negotiations between the Wik & Wik Way People, the 

State of Queensland, various pastoral respondents and Cook Shire Council were 

focussed on the terms of a consent determination of native title and five ILUAs between 

the Wik & Wik Way People, various pastoral respondents and Cook Shire Council. 

The consent of the various pastoral respondents and Cook Shire Council to the 

determination of native title is conditional upon them entering into an ILUA with the Wik & 

Wik Way People.  As the lessee of Crystalvale Pastoral Station is not a party to the native 

title claim, and did not respond to numerous approaches made by the claimant's solicitors, 

there is no need for the Wik & Wik Way People to negotiate an ILUA for that pastoral 

station. 

The ILUAs between the Wik & Wik Way People, the various pastoral respondents for the 

remaining areas,  Cook Shire Council and where relevant, Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal 

Corporation RNTBC, the Wik & Wik Way Peoples' registered native title body corporate, 

have now been finalised and were authorised and signed by the Applicant and Ngan Aak-

Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC in early August 2012. It is anticipated that the 

ILUAs will be lodged for registration with the NNTT by mid-September 2012.  The Federal 

Court has advised that a ceremonial hearing for the making of the final consent 

determination of native title will be held in Aurukun on 11 October 2012. 

Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC, and relevant Wik & Wik Way native title 

holders and claimants, have been engaged in a number of matters between July 2011 

and June 2012 relating to the areas of land and waters where Wik & Wik Way Peoples 

already hold, or claim to hold, native title. These matters include: 
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 a right to negotiate negotiation with Oresome Australia in relation to the grant of a 

mining lease over part of the Aurukun Shire lease area for the Urquhart Point 

mineral sands project; 

 ongoing discussions with the State and the Aurukun Shire Council about the 

transfer of the majority of the Aurukun Shire lease area (and adjacent unallocated 

State land and DOGIT land) where native title has been determined to exist to 

Ngan Aak-Kunch Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC as Aboriginal freehold under the 

Aboriginal Land Act; 

 negotiations for exploration agreements with companies who have applied to the 

State for the grant of exploration permits to explore for minerals in both the 

determined and claimed areas to ensure that exploration activities are carried out 

with proper regard for Aboriginal cultural heritage and in a manner acceptable 

to Wik & Wik Way native title holders and claimants.      

 CENTRAL CAPE YORK 

There are six NTDA identified for research purposes within the Central Cape York 

research region. These include Olkola People (QUD6008/03); Olkola People #2 

(QUD1/05); Olkola and Thaypan Peoples (QUD6009/03); Olkola/Fairlight (QUD6010/03); 

Olkola/Strathleven/King Junction (QUD6013/03); and Ayapathu and Olkola Peoples 

(QUD6012/03). These NTDAs were all filed with the Federal Court in 2003 and 2004 in 

response to Future Act Notices pursuant to s29 of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth.).  The 

six claims have remained in place following those initial notices to preserve the right to 

negotiate with the future act proponents. As outlined above, these claims have been 

identified as a research region in CYLCs priority setting and land tenure resolution 

approach.   Consideration of issues concerning possible amalgamations and / or 

restructures of the six NTDAs is being developed.  An experienced anthropologist has 

been conducting field research and is preparing connection material for this purpose to be 

provided to CYLC in 2012-2013. 

 EAST CAPE YORK 

The NTDAs partly within the East Cape York region and partly within the Northern Cape 

York Region includes Wuthathi Kuuku Yau and Northern Kaanju People (QUD6023/02); 

and part of Northern Kaanju People and Yianh People (QUD6152/98). The Wuthathi 

People #2 (QUD6022/02) NTDA has been identified in the research as being wholly within 

this research region. 
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 The Wuthathi, Kuuku Ya’u and Northern Kaanju (QUD6023/02) NTDA was filed in 

2002 and entered on the NNTT Register of Claims on 26 May 2003.  While the 

State has accepted the application of s47B Native Title Act over the NTDA area, it 

has further engaged the Applicant in discussions concerning some connection 

issues. 

 The Northern Kaanju and Yianh People (QUD6152/98) NTDA was filed in 1997 

and was entered on the NNTT Register of Claims on 16 October 1997. 

 The Wuthathi People #2 (QUD6022/02) NTDA was filed in 2002 and entered on 

the NNTT Register of Claims on 10 February 2003. Inter-indigenous issues have 

been mediated on a number of occasions however these meetings have not 

achieved a sustainable outcome and CYLC has withdrawn as legal representative 

for this matter. 

CYLC contracted consultant anthropologists to conduct reviews of research material and 

provide initial assistance on connection issues and the formulation of NTDAs in this 

region. The literature review phase will be completed by end 2012. Further research has 

been contracted into 2012-2013 that will enable the reformulation of the following two 

NTDAs to the extent that it is necessary to do so. The literature review material provided 

by the consultant anthropologist will also provide a framework for understanding regional 

cultural issues claim options as part of the strategic process of addressing unclaimed land 

in this region. 

 NORTH CAPE YORK 

A number of NTDAs were filed in this region around the time of the Western Cape 

Communities Co-existence Agreement.  Claim overlap issues were addressed during 

2010-2011 as part of the strategic regional research process leading towards the laying of 

sustainable NTDA’s over the region. The region originally included eight (8) NTDAs and 

since the overlaps were resolved and new NTDAs filed there are currently four (4) NTDAs: 

 Northern Cape York Group #1 (QUD157/11) NTDA was filed 30 June 2011 and 

then an amended NTDA was filed 20 December 2011 to excise the Ankamuthi 

People (QUD6158/98) claim area to remove the overlap and was entered onto the 

NNTT Register of Claims  1 March 2012. 

 Northern Cape York Group #2 (QUD156/11) NTDA was filed 1 July 2011 and 

entered onto the NNTT Register of Claims. 

 Weipa Peninsula People (QUD6009/02) - NTDA was filed in 2002 and was 

entered on the NNTT Register of Claims on 22 April 2004. This claim was lodged 
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in part to comply with the Western Cape Communities Co-existence Agreement 

(WCCCA) 2001. The claim area is also the subject of WCCCA related land 

transfers involving Rio Tinto Alcan and CYLC is working with the State to assist in 

this tenure resolution and transfer process. Further connection research in this 

matter is required to progress the claim based on the region research strategy. 

 Ankamuthi People (QUD6158/98) where the Applicant is not represented by 

CYLC. 

 The Gudang Yadhaykenu People Sea Claim (QUD269/08) NTDA was lodged in 

September 2008 and was entered on the NNTT Register of Claims on 3 March 

2009. The claim was filed to pursue the recognition of native tile rights and 

interests under the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth.). 

Draft connection reports have been provided to CYLC for Northern Cape York Group #1 

and Northern Cape York Group #2 NTDA areas and these reports are scheduled to be 

provided to the Sate by August 2012 for assessment. Following the State’s assessment 

CYLC will mediate any connection issues if required and address indigenous respondent 

issues should they become parties to the claims by the end of the notification period. 

 SOUTH EAST CAPE YORK 

The NTDAs wholly within the South East Cape York Region are Juunyjuwarra 

(QUD6014/99); Kalpowar Holdings (QUD6155/98); Melsonby (Gaarraay) People 

(QUD452/06); and Archer Point People (QUD352/06). 

 Kalpowar Holdings Native Title Claim (QUD6155/98) – NTDA lodged on 28 

October 1997 and amended in 2005 following a successful state land dealing 

negotiation that resulted in the creation of Aboriginal freehold, national park and 

reserves. 

 Juunyjuwarra People Native Title Claim (QUD6014/99) – NTDA lodged on 19 

March 1999 after a mining lease application was filed in the Munburra Resources 

Reserve.  A connection report was provided to the State in June 2007.  The State 

has sought further connection material and CYLC met with the claim group in 

March 2010 to outline the connection issues and the regional approach which is 

ongoing. 

 Melsonby (Gaarraay) People Native Title Claim (QUD452/06) NTDA lodged on 21 

November 2006 following a successful state land dealing negotiation that resulted 

in the creation of Aboriginal freehold and a national park. 
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 Archer Point People Native Title Claim (QUD352/06) NTDA was lodged on 6 

September 2006 following a successful state land dealing negotiation that resulted 

in the creation of Aboriginal freehold, national park and a resources reserve. 

CYLC has contracted an anthropologist who has conducted a review of research material 

for this region and provided initial assistance on connection issues and the formulation of 

NTDAs in this region. Further research has been contracted in 2012-2012-2013 that will 

enable the reformulation of the four NTDAs to the extent that it is necessary to do so. 

Connection material is also contracted to be prepared and drafts provided to CYLC by 

June 2013 for assessment and claim options. 

 

Photo 5  Kalpowar crossing 
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State Land Dealings and National Park Transfers Program 

CYLC has continued its role in support of the State Land Dealing and National Park 

Transfers programs, which are administered by Balkanu Cape York Development 

Corporation as Queensland State Government funded projects. These projects involve the 

resolution of tenure on a number of pastoral and national park properties in the Cape York 

region through negotiated ILUA’s.  CYLC lawyers and Balkanu staff facilitate the 

participation of native title holders in negotiations with the Queensland Government’s 

Cape York Tenure Resolution Branch.  CYLC’s clients seek land under secure tenure with 

economic development opportunities, negotiating also with the State with a view to the 

protection of areas with high cultural and environmental values.  

In the year to 30 June 2012, three land transfers proceeded under the program following 

authorisation of ILUA’s by the relevant native title groups. 

 In July 2011, the former Iron Range National Park and offshore islands were 

transferred to Kuuku Ya’u (Kungkay and Kanthanampu) People.  The new name 

for the national park, chosen by the native title group, is Kutini-Payamu (Iron 

Range) National Park (Cape York Peninsula Aboriginal Land). 

 At the same time Kutini-Payamu (Iron Range) National Park was transferred to the 

Kuuku Ya’u PBC, Northern Kuuku Ya’u (Kungkay) lands within and surrounding 

Portland Roads were likewise transferred to the PBC, bringing the total area of 

Aboriginal Freehold transferred under this ILUA to 56,755 hectares. 

 The third transfer to take place during the financial year involved the former 

Mungkan Kaanju National Park.  This included the Archer Bend section which was 

controversially declared a State owned national park over 30 years ago, by a State 

government determined to stop the late John Koowarta and Wik Mungkan People 

from achieving their dream of legal ownership of traditional lands.  

 CYLC and Balkanu successfully negotiated for the “excision” (or removal) of the 

75,074 hectare Archer Bend area from the national park, which was instead 

returned to Mungkan Side People as Aboriginal Freehold,  in recognition of the 

historical wrong.  The remainder of the park, totalling 381,560 hectares, was 

transferred to Mungkan Side, Ayapathu and Kaanju Peoples, and is now known as 

Oyala Thumotang National Park (Cape York Peninsula Aboriginal Land). 
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The following are photographs of Kutini-Payamu (Iron Range) National Park (CYPAL) and 

Portland Roads Handback held in July 2011 and photographs of Oyala Thumotang 

National Park (CYPAL) and Archer Bend Handback held in May 2012. 

 

Photo 6 Former Environment Minister Vicky Darling presenting title deeds to Northern 
Kuuku Ya’u (Kungkay) elders Lucy Hobson and Susan Pascoe (July 2011). 

 

Photo 7  Kuuku Ya’u (Kungkay and Kanthanampu) People after the presentation of title 
deeds and commemorative posters, with former Queensland MPs Jason O’Brien and Vicky 
Darling (centre rear) (July 2011). 
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Photo 8  Lockhart River kids celebrate the historic land transfer with traditional dance (July 
2011). 

 

Photo 9  Phillip Port (Ayapathu), Victor Lawrence (Mungkan Side) and Allan Creek (Kaanju) 
seal the deal – paving the way for ILUA authorisation and the transfer of legal title over 
traditional lands within the former Mungkan Kaanju National Park (May 2012). 
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Photo 10  Premier Campbell Newman presents land title deeds over Archer Bend area (May 
2012) 

 

Photo 11  Each tribal group was presented with a Commemorative Poster of the occasion 
(Allan Creek pictured with Kaanju Traditional Owners) (May 2012). 

Aboriginal Freehold Overview 

Aboriginal freehold provides wider community economic benefits through eco-tourism, 

grazing, landscape beauty and recreation. The following tables below provide a summary 

of Aboriginal Freehold hand-backs under the State Land Dealings and National Park 

Transfers programs.  A total of 2,272,977 hectares of land has been transferred (both as 

joint-managed national park and as commercially useable freehold).  To provide context, 

the area transferred to date equates to roughly ten times the size of the Australian Capital 

Territory.   Subject to ongoing funding by the State government, Balkanu and CYLC will 
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continue working hard in partnership with Traditional Owners, so as to secure the transfer 

of further Aboriginal Freehold land in coming years. 

Table 5  Aboriginal Freehold (Outside National Park) 

PROPERTY HECTARES 

STARKE - (FINALIZED 2000) 84,000 

SILVER PLAINS (2000) MCILLWRAITH/MT 

CROLL (AUGUST 2008) 

216,000 

MARINA PLAINS (AUGUST 2005) 950 

KALPOWAR (DECEMBER 2005) 192,800 

ARCHER POINT (AUGUST 2006) 1,700 

MELSONBY ( NOVEMBER 2006) 10,700 

RUNNING CREEK & LILYVALE (JULY 2008) 75,000 

KALINGA (MAY 2010) 37,170 

MARINA PLAINS (RINDOPARR) (JUNE 2010)  70 

MUNBURRA (MARCH 2011) 6698 

PORTLAND ROADS SURROUNDS AND AREAS 

EXCISED FROM IRON RANGE NP (JULY 2011) 

3449 

ARCHER BEND AREA EXCISED FROM 

MUNGKAN KANDJU NP (MAY 2012) 

75,074 
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Table 6  Jointly Managed National Parks 

PROPERTY HECTARES 

STARKE  (FINALIZED 2000) 101,000 

SILVER PLAINS (2000) MCILLWRAITH/MT 

CROLL (AUGUST 2008) 
158,000 

MARINA PLAINS (AUGUST 2005) 5,850 

KALPOWAR (DECEMBER 2005) 200,000 

ARCHER POINT (AUGUST 2006) 8,000 

MELSONBY ( NOVEMBER 2006) 9,000 

RUNNING CREEK & LILYVALE (JULY 2008) 35,000 

MITCHELL ALICE  RIVER (ERRK OYKANGAND) 

(OCTOBER 2009) 
37,100 

CLIFF ISLAND (MARPA) (APRIL 2010) 48.1 

MULKAY  (ALWAL NP) (MAY 2010) 42,510 

RINYIRRU (LAKEFIELD) NATIONAL PARK 

(JUNE 2011) 
538,000 

KUTINI-PAYAMU (IRON RANGE) NP (JULY 

2011) 
53,306 

OYALA THUMOTANG NP (MAY 2012) 381,560 

TOTAL LAND TRANSFERRED 2,272,977 ha 
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Nature Refuges Created Over Aboriginal Freehold 

Anther outcome for this project has been the creation of Nature Refuges National Parks 

transfers to date where 1,134,508 hectares have been transferred. The table below 

provides an overview of these achievements to end June 2011. 

Table 7  Nature Refuges 

PROPERTY HECTARES  

MARINA PLAINS (AUGUST 2005) 950 

KALPOWAR (DECEMBER 2005) 50,000 

ARCHER POINT (AUGUST 2006) 560 

MELSONBY ( NOVEMBER 2006) 3,600 

RUNNING CREEK & LILYVALE (JULY 2008) 45,000 

KALINGA / MULKAY (MAY 2010) 2,673 

TOTAL 102,783 ha 
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CORPORATE SERVICES REPORT 

During the reporting period, the Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Kirstyne Broderick, has 

had carriage of the Employee relations of CYLC.  This role recently extended to include 

the Community Relations arm of the organisation, encompassing the FAME operations, 

PBC Unit and the CYLC Regional offices in Cooktown and Weipa.  The focus of this unit 

is now on the employment and training of our team members to effectively deliver the 

services of a NTRB to our clients.  This demonstrates our commitment to ensuring our 

operations meet our clients now but are evolving to suit the changing landscape post 

native title as we move into supporting Prescribed Body Corporates and ensuring that 

their vision within the communities is supported.   An important focus is balancing the 

commitments of day to day management with maintaining community support and a 

CYLC presence in the communities of Cape York.  While the role has grown to include 

more time within the communities dealing with ‘on ground’ issues and providing face to 

face support, the Human Resource responsibilities have been supported by the growth of 

the Executive Unit team.  

CYLC has a commitment to providing a service where we can clearly measure our 

deliverables, while meeting the organisations visions of empowering Aboriginal people 

from within Cape York.  Our service can be measured by seeking regular feedback from 

within our communities, recognising the remoteness of Cape York.  Another indication of 

success of our service is the capacity building and creation of economic opportunities 

within our communities.  In the reporting period, CYLC is proud of its achievements in 

building relationships within the communities, continued support of community members 

and RNTBC’s that are the building blocks for their growth and independence.   

In the reporting year we have continued to develop our team to ensure that these visions 

are achieved.  We are committed to selecting the best candidate by using a merit-based 

selection process.   

In addition to recruitment of new staff CYLC has provided the opportunity for development 

of our staff by promoting within where identified skills and further development allows 

these opportunities.  CYLC recognises the importance of supporting staff to gain 

opportunities that will aid their personal and professional development and broaden their 

skills base. 

Corporate Services Report 
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Workforce Planning, Staff Turnover and Retention  

CYLC has successfully recruited 3 new Senior Legal Officers and a Legal Officer to 

resource the Native Title Unit.  These positions were required to fill a vacancy but also to 

allow for the growth of this unit to meet our workplans.  These additional resources will 

support the development of the unit and its ability to meet the demands of our current 

Native Title Applications and the demands of the Federal Court.  

The movements compliment the skills of our long term staff, while recognising the new 

talent that have come to work with us at CYLC.   

In addition to the recruitment of professional staff the administrative arm of CYLC has 

seen a number of internal promotions, acting roles and additional training aimed at 

ensuring our staff are challenged to develop and contribute to the organisations charter.   

Training and Development 

CYLC is committed to providing appropriate, high-quality training opportunities for its 

employees.  

CYLC has sought specialised computer skills training for all staff in the Word suite of 

computer programs.  This commitment will continue into the future with administrative staff 

also taking on training opportunities to further develop their skills.   

CYLC also implemented new training procedures aimed at encouraging employees to 

identify training opportunities that suit their roles, as part of their annual performance 

reviews but also as an ongoing commitment to development.   

CYLC has continued to work in partnership with the Aurora Project, recognising the 

suitability of its programs, tailored to meet the needs of NTRB staff.   

During the 2011-2012 financial year, the total expenditure for training and development, 

including course fees and other associated expenses was $74,383.00 excluding staff time 

and the cost of Aurora Project delivery.  

Aurora Project Internship Program  

During the Winter program, CYLC was able to benefit from the commitment of an Aurora 

legal intern, who was fully funded by a southern law firm, and who worked with us in our 

Cairns office for a 5 week period.  The intern provided support in a number of areas 

including assisting with research and logistics in Cape York for the finalisation of a number 

of important authorisation meetings.  
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Employee Collective Agreements  

CYLC staff and management completed negotiations for the Cape York Land Council 

Single Enterprise Agreement.  The Single Enterprise Agreement was registered with Fair 

Work Australia on 15 December 2011 and is current until 13 December 2015.  The 

Agreement provides the working entitlements and expectations for all CYLC employees.  

Among the entitlements it provides all staff with a guaranteed 4% salary increase at 1 

January each year of the agreement, access to Study support programs, generous leave 

entitlements and a commitment of an additional 2% superannuation contribution to the 

rate prescribed by the Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992. 

The Agreement has enhanced certainty of working conditions, clarified employee 

entitlements, rights and responsibilities, and assisted the organisation to attract and retain 

a highly motivated, appropriately skilled and dedicated workforce. 

Staff Overview  

CYLC employed an average of 30 permanent employees during the year 2011-2012.  

CYLC employs staff with a wide range of skill levels and backgrounds. This reflects its 

core business as a service organisation. Two thirds of CYLC employees are female. 

Indigenous (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) employees made up 43 percent of 

CYLC employees.  CYLC is proud of the increase in Indigenous staff by an additional 

12 percent during the reporting period. 

Table 8  Staff Overview 

 Indigenous Male Female 
Full or Part 

Time 
Total 

YEAR 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 

Executive  
(Management 
team) 

1 1 4 4 1 1 5 F/T 5 F/T 5 5 

Professional 
Staff 

1 0 5 4 3 3 
7 F/T 
1 P/T 

5 F/T 

2 P/T 
8 7 

Administrative/
Clerical 

10 12 1 0 12 14 
12F/T 
1 P/T 

12 F/T 

2 P/T 
13 14 

Field 2 3 1 2 1 1 2 F/T 3 F/T 2 3 

Trainee - - - - - - - - - - 

Total 14 16 11  17  28 29 28 29 
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Occupational Health & Safety 

CYLC engaged the services of a Workplace Health and Safety Consultant to facilitate the 

Workplace Health and Safety standards adopted by the Corporation throughout its 

operations. The process of outsourcinging this role, continues to ensure that the 

organisation remains committed to maintaining the highest level of Workplace Health and 

Safety standards for Land Council staff.  

Indemnities and Insurance Premiums  

Since the end of the previous financial year, the Corporation has not indemnified, or made 

a relevant offer to indemnify, against a liability any person who is or has been an officer or 

auditor of the Association.  

Association Liability insurance cover to the amount of $10,000,000.00 was held with CGU 

Insurance Brokers Pty Ltd at a total premium of $19,675.00. 

Remuneration of Senior Management 

CYLC negotiates Senior Management salaries on an individual basis with reference to the 

market and other NTRB pay scales as reviewed by an independent Assessor.  In 

accordance with our Program Funding Agreement, we seek FaHCSIA’s view on 

appointments to senior positions and salaries where required.  The Board of Directors are 

involved in all senior appointments and are responsible for the employment of the Chief 

Executive Officer.   

During the reporting period the Board of Directors negotiated, with FaHCSIA approval, a 

further 2 year employment contract with the Chief Executive Officer.  
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CONSULTANT & COMPETITIVE TENDERING 

Consultants are engaged by CYLC to provide specific expert services and advice not 

otherwise available from among CYLC permanent staff in relation to its functions as a 

NTRB.  

 

CYLC utilised the services of a wide range of consultants in the legal, anthropological and 

land management planning fields during the financial year. The CEO and PLO approves 

the engagement of all consultants for Native Title work to ensure the appropriate level of 

standards are maintained, that the consultant’s service costs are within the budget and 

they represent value for money.  

 

The employment of consultants is documented by a Contract of Appointment, which sets 

out the services to be performed, payment rates, periods of employment, the rights and 

responsibilities of the consultant, and copies of all contract records for each consultant 

engaged are fully maintained. Professional consultants engaged, particularly 

anthropologists, have particular knowledge and expertise in an area or in relation to a 

claimant group and where this is the case, tenders are not called. Each consultant’s 

performance is monitored by the PLO and the CEO who are responsible for reporting on 

the effectiveness of consultancies to the Board of Directors of CYLC.  
 

CYLC engaged the services of 34 consultants on projects to a total value of $1,265,504. 

The following is a breakdown of 2011-2012 consultant costs and the 2010-2011 for 

comparative purposes. 

 

Table 9 Breakdown of 2011-2012 Consultants Costs 

PAYMENT RANGE No. OF CONSULTANTS TOTAL COST 

< $30,000 16 $1,112,040 

> $30,000 18 $153,464 

Total  $1,265,504 

 
 

Table 10  Breakdown of 2010-2011 Consultants Costs 

PAYMENT RANGE No. OF CONSULTANTS TOTAL COST 

< $30,000 26 $306,482 

> $30,000 7 $515,022 

Total  $821,504 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

The directors present their report together with the financial statements of Cape York Land Council 

Aboriginal Corporation (the Corporation) for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and the auditor’s report 

thereon. 

 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

The Corporation’s operations involve the advocacy of land issues on behalf of the people of the Cape York 

Peninsula region. The main projects during this financial year the Corporation was involved include land 

advocacy work in the North West Cape, Northern Peninsula Area, and the continuation and development of 

mining and exploration. The results from operations and financial position of the Corporation outlined in the 

financial statements are consistent with the expectations of directors.  

 

The net deficit from ordinary activities after income tax amounted to $5,844 (2011: net surplus $265,337).   

 

 

STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 

There were no significant changes in the Corporation’s state of affairs during the year. 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

The principal activities of the Corporation during the course of the financial year were advocacy of land 

issues on behalf of the people of the Cape York Peninsula region.  There were no significant changes in the 

nature of the activities of the Corporation during the year. 

 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 
 

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any matter 

or circumstance that has significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Corporation, 

the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation, in future financial years. 

 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS  
 

The directors envisage that the Corporation will continue its existing operations, subject to the receipt of 

future funding from government and other sources. 

 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
 

The Corporation’s operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulations 

under either Commonwealth or State legislation.  However, the board believes that the Corporation has 

adequate systems in place for the management of its environmental requirements and is not aware of any 

breach of those environmental requirements as they apply to the Corporation. 

 

DISTRIBUTIONS 
 

The Corporation’s constitution precludes it from distributing any surpluses to members.  Accordingly, no 

distributions were paid, recommended or declared by the Corporation during the year. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

DIRECTORS  
 

The directors of the Corporation at any time during or since the end of the financial year and the number of 

directors’ meetings and number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Corporation during the 

financial year are: 

 

   No of  No of  

Community Name  Special responsibilities meetings  meetings 

   attended held* 

Cairns Richard Ah Mat Chairperson Re-elected 30 November 2011 5 5 

Injinoo Robbie Salee Deputy Chairperson Re-elected 30 November 2011 5 5 

Aurukun  Phyllis Yunkaporta Director Elected 30 November 2011 3 4 

Aurukun  Jacob Wolmby Director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Aurukun  Bruce Martin Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Aurukun  Doug Ahlers Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Cairns Fred Joseph Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Coen Allan Creek Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 5 5 

Coen Dion Creek Alternate director Re-elected 30 November 2011 - 5 

Cooktown Brian Cobus Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 4 5 

Cooktown Ron Harrigan Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Cooktown Erica Deeral Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Hopevale Elizabeth Lakefield Director Elected 30 November 2011 1 5 

Hopevale Gerhardt Pearson Director Term ended 30 November 2011 1 1 

Hopevale Gerhardt Pearson Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Hopevale Elizabeth Lakefield Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 1 1 

Injino Meun Lifu Alternate director Re-elected 30 November 2011 - 5 

Kowanyama Aaron Teddy Director Elected 30 November 2011 2 4 

Kowanyama Leslie Gilbert Director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Kowanyama Anzac Frank Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Kowanyama Michael Yam Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Laura Fred Coleman Director Elected 30 November 2011 4 5 

Laura Michael Ross Director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Laura Tracey Lowdown Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Laura Fred Coleman Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 4 

Lockhart River Toby Accoom Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 5 5 

Lockhart River Greta Accoom Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Lockhart River Rodney Accoom Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Mapoon Neomi Roseblade Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 3 5 

Mapoon Delores Nixon Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 1 4 

Mossman Donna Henning Director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Mossman Richard Ah Mat Director Term ended 30 November 2011 1 1 

Mossman Karen Gibson Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Mossman Delores Friday Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Napranum Sarina Adams Director Elected 30 November 2011 2 4 

Napranum Richard Barkley Director Term ended 30 November 2011 - - 

Napranum Josie Blanco Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Napranum Sarina Adams Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

New Mapoon Clara Day Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 4 5 

New Mapoon Geraldine York Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 1 4 

New Mapoon Percy Clermont Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Pormpuraaw Richard Tarpencha Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 1 5 

Pormpuraaw Lenny Ned Alternate director Re-elected 30 November 2011 - 5 

Port Stewart Gavin Bassani Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 1 5 

Port Stewart Elaine Liddy Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 2 4 

Port Stewart Robert Spratt Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 

 

   No of  No of  

Community Name  Special responsibilities meetings  meetings 

   attended held* 

Umagico Bernard Charlie Director Re-elected 30 November 2011 5 5 

Umagico Gwen Toby Alternate director Elected 30 November 2011 - 4 

Umagico Polly Mooka Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 1 

Wujal Wujal Doreen Jones Director Elected 30 November 2011 3 5 

Wujal Wujal Graham Woibo Director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 4 

Wujal Wujal Doreen Jones Alternate director Term ended 30 November 2011 - 4 
 

*Reflects the number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year. 

 

 

LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

 

At no time during the financial year ended 30 June 2012 was an officer of the Corporation an auditor, a 

partner in the audit firm, or a director of the audit firm that undertook the audit of the Corporation for that 

financial year. 

 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration is set out on page 29 and forms part of the directors’ report for 

the financial year ended 30 June 2012. 

 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE CORPORATION 
 

During the year, no person has made application for leave in respect of the Corporation under section 169-5 

of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 (the Act). 

 

During the year, no person has brought or intervened in proceedings on behalf of the Corporation with leave 

under section 169-5 of the Act. 

 

 

This report is made with a resolution of the directors: 

 

 
 

____________________________ 

Director 

 

 

Dated at Cairns this 14
th

 day of September 2012. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2012 

 2012 2011 

 Note  $ $ 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 6 872,756 801,337 

Trade and other receivables  7 300,217 306,719 

Prepayments   19,330 18,935 
    
Total current assets   1,192,303 1,126,991 
    
 

Property, plant and equipment 8 1,114,001 1,100,695 
    
Total non-current assets   1,114,001 1,100,695 
    
Total assets   2,306,304 2,227,686 
    
 

LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables  

 Suppliers  9 1,010,882 953,949 

 Grants  9 304,783 284,323 
    
Total current liabilities  1,315,665 1,238,272 
    
Employee benefits 10 18,615 11,546 
    
Total non-current liabilities  18,615 11,546 
    
Total liabilities   1,334,280 1,249,818 
    
Net assets  972,024 977,868 
    
 

EQUITY  

Retained surplus  577,402 583,246 

Reserves 12 394,622 394,622 
    
Total equity  972,024 977,868 
    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



Cape York Land Council Annual Report 2011-2012 

 

5 
 

 

CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 2012 2011 

 Note  $ $ 

INCOME 

Revenue 
Revenue from government sources 13(a) 5,465,802 4,763,139 

Revenue from non-government sources 13(b) 872,702 817,854 

Other income  - 5,718 
    
  6,338,504 5,586,711 
    
 

EXPENSES 

Employee expenses 14 2,740,773 2,633,124 

Supplier expenses 14 3,466,350 2,471,547 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 14 190,055 273,025 

Other expenses 14 10,995 6,525 
    
    6,408,172 5,384,221 
    
Results from operating activities  (69,668) 202,490 
    
Finance income  63,824 70,420 

Finance costs  - (7,573) 
    
Net finance income  63,824 62,847 
    
Net surplus/(deficit) before tax  (5,844) 265,337 

Tax expense 3(k) - - 
 3(k)  -    
Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  (5,844) 265,337 

 

Other comprehensive income 
Revaluation of property, plant and equipment  - 34,694 
 3(k)  -    
Total comprehensive income for the year   (5,844) 300,031 
    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 Retained  Asset revaluation 

 surplus reserve Total equity 

 $ $ $ 

 

Balance at 1 July 2011 583,246 394,622 977,868 

      

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Deficit for the year (5,844) - (5,844) 

Total other comprehensive income - - - 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year (5,844) - (5,844) 
      
Balance at 30 June 2012 577,402 394,622 972,024 
      
 

Balance at 1 July 2010 317,909 359,928 677,837 

      

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Surplus for the year 265,337 - 265,337 

Total other comprehensive income 

 Revaluation of property, plant and equipment - 34,694 34,694 
      
Total comprehensive income for the year 265,337 34,694 300,031 
      
Balance at 30 June 2011 583,246 394,622 977,868 
      
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 2012 2011 

 Note  $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Cash receipts from services provided and grants 6,344,612 6,045,495 

Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (6,122,661) (5,316,620) 

Interest received 63,824 70,420 
    
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 16 285,775 799,295 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment   (319,188) (289,456) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  104,832 60,423 
    
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities   (214,356) (229,033) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 

Payment of finance lease liabilities   - (62,498) 
    
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities   - (62,498) 
    
 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  71,419 507,764 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 July   801,337 293,573 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June  6 872,756 801,337 
    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

1. REPORTING ENTITY  

 

Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (the Corporation) is a corporation domiciled in Australia.  

The address of the Corporation’s registered office is 32 Florence Street, Cairns, Queensland.  The 

Corporation is a not-for-profit entity and primarily is involved in land advocacy matters. 

 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

(a) Statement of compliance  

 

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance 

with Australian Accounting Standards (AASBs) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 

(AASB) and the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006.  Because the Corporation is 

a not-for-profit entity and AASBs include requirements for not-for-profit entities which are inconsistent with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), the financial statements of the Corporation do not 

comply with IFRSs and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on the date shown on the directors’ 

declaration. 

 

(b) Basis of measurement  

 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for property, plant and 

equipment in the statement of financial position. 

 

(c) Functional and presentation currency  

 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional 

currency. 

 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements  

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AASBs requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 

amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates 

are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on 

the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in Note 3(h) – Government grants and other 

contributions of assets. 

 

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 

material adjustment within the next financial year are included in Note 8 – Property, plant and equipment.  

 

(f) Economic dependency 

 

The Corporation is a not-for-profit entity and is reliant on government funding in order to continue its 

operations.  The directors have no reason to believe that the required funding will not be forthcoming for the 

foreseeable future.  However, should future government funding be significantly reduced or curtailed, the 

Corporation would be unlikely to be able to continue its operations at current levels. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 

financial statements. 

 

(a) Financial instruments 

 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
 

The Corporation initially recognises loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated.  

All other financial assets are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a party 

to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Corporation derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 

expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in 

which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest 

in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Corporation is recognised as a separate asset or 

liability.  

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 

when, and only when, the Corporation has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 

net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

The Corporation has the following non-derivative financial assets:   

 

Loans and receivables 
 

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 

active market.  Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 

costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

 

Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months 

or less.   

 

(ii) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
 

The Corporation initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade date at which the Corporation becomes a 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.   

 

The Corporation derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 

cancelled or expire.   

 

The Corporation classified non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category.  

Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  

Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. 

 

Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

(b) Property, plant and equipment 

 

(i) Recognition and measurement 
 

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially measured and recognised at cost.  

 

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of self-

constructed assets includes the following: 

 the cost of materials and direct labour; 

 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use; 

 when the Corporation has an obligation to remove the assets or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of 

dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and 

 capitalised borrowing costs.   

 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that 

equipment. 

 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 

separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value.  Revaluations are made with 

sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amounts of these assets do not differ materially from fair 

value.  

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 

between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in income or 

expenses.   

 

(ii) Subsequent costs 
 

Ongoing repairs and maintenance and minor renewals to maintain the operational capacity of an existing 

asset is expensed as incurred.  Expenditure that relates to replacement of a major component of an asset to 

maintain its service potential is capitalised. 

 

(iii) Depreciation  
 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 

of each component.  Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives 

unless it is reasonably certain that the Corporation will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term.   

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready for 

use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. 

 

The estimated useful lives in the current and comparative years of significant items of property, plant and 

equipment are as follows: 

 Leasehold improvements 10 years 

 Plant and equipment  4 years 

 Motor vehicles  5 years 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 

appropriate. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

(c) Leased assets  

 

Leases in terms of which the Corporation assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

classified as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the 

lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial 

recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  

 

Other leases are operating leases and the leased assets are not recognised on the Corporation’s statement of 

financial position.  

   

(d) Impairment 

 

(i) Non-derivative financial assets 
 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence that 

it is impaired.  A financial asset is impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 

more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event(s) had an impact on 

the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 

restructuring of an amount due to the Corporation on terms that the Corporation would not consider 

otherwise, or indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy.  

 

The Corporation considers evidence of impairment for receivables at a specific asset level.   

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 

between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 

original effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in finance costs and reflected in an allowance account 

against loans and receivables.  When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the 

amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through other income. 
 

(ii) Non-financial assets  
 

The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset 

exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.   

 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  As the 

Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, value in use is the depreciated replacement cost of an asset as the future 

economic benefits of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows 

and as the entity would, if deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits. 

 

Impairment losses are recognised in expenses.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 

the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 

that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 

of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

(e) Employee benefits  

 

(i) Defined contribution plans 
 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 

into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.  Obligations 

for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as a personnel expense in the periods during 

which services are rendered by employees.  Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that 

a cash refund or a reduction in future payments is available.  Contributions to a defined contribution plan that 

are due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the service are 

discounted to their present value. 

 

(ii) Other long-term employee benefits 
 

The Corporation’s net obligation in respect of long-term employee benefits is the amount of future benefit 

that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods plus related on-costs; 

that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any related assets is deducted.  

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit-rated or government bonds that have 

maturity dates approximating the terms of the Corporation’s obligations and that are denominated in the same 

currency in which the benefits are expected to be paid.  The calculation is performed using the projected unit 

credit method.  Any actuarial gains or losses are recognised in expenses in the period in which they arise. 

 

(iii) Termination benefits 
 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Corporation is demonstrably committed, without 

realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal 

retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 

redundancy.  Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the 

Corporation has made an offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be 

accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably.  If benefits are payable more than 12 

months after the reporting period, then they are discounted to their present value. 

 

(iv) Short-term benefits 
 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 

related service is provided.  A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term 

cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 

amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 

(f) Provisions  
 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 

obligation that can be estimated reliably and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 

a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 

liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance costs. 

 

(g) Revenue  
 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in income in proportion to the stage of completion of the 

transaction at the reporting date.  The stage of completion is assessed by reference to surveys of work 

performed. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

(h) Government grants and other contributions of assets 

 

Government grants and other contributions of assets are accounted for in accordance with AASB 1004 

Contributions based on whether they are reciprocal or non-reciprocal in nature and are measured at the fair 

value of the contributions received or receivable. 

 

Reciprocal transfers are those where approximately equal value is exchanged in the transfer between the 

transferor (grantor) and the transferee (grantee).  Non-reciprocal transfers are those where equal value is not 

exchanged.   

 

(i) Reciprocal transfers 
 

Where grants and other contributions are received that are reciprocal in nature, revenue is recognised over the 

term of the funding arrangements.  The Corporation currently does not have any reciprocal grants. 

 

(ii) Non-reciprocal transfers 
 

Grants and other contributions that are non-reciprocal in nature are recognised as revenue when, and only 

when, all the following conditions have been satisfied: 

 the Corporation obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution; 

 it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Corporation; and 

 the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. 

 

The Corporation considers that it does not obtain control of grant funds received (or receivable) until the 

funds have been applied for the approved purpose set out in the relevant funding agreement.  Grant funds 

unexpended, repayable or in advance are accounted for as liabilities. 

 

(iii) Contributions 
 

Contributions of assets, including the right to receive cash or other forms of assets without directly giving 

approximately equal value to the other party or parties to the transfer, are recognised as revenue at fair value 

when the Corporation obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution, it is probable 

that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Corporation and the amount of the 

contribution can be measured reliably. 

 

(i) Leases 

 

(i) Lease payments  
 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in expenses on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

lease.  Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of 

the lease. 

 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance costs and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance costs are allocated to each period during the lease term so 

as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.   

 

(ii) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
 

At inception of an arrangement, the Corporation determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a 

lease.  This will be the case if the following two criteria are met: 

 the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and 

 the arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).  
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)  

 

(i) Leases (continued)  

 

(ii) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease (continued)  
 

At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Corporation separates payments and other 

consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 

basis of their relative fair values.  If the Corporation concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 

separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value of 

the underlying asset.  Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance 

charge on the liability is recognised using the Corporation’s incremental borrowing rate. 

 

(j) Finance income and finance costs 

 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 

finance income, using the effective interest method.   

 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 

the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are recognised in expenses using the effective 

interest method. 

 

(k) Income tax 
 

The Corporation has been granted exemption from income tax under Division 50 of the Income Tax 

Assessment Act 1997.   

 

(l) Goods and services tax  

 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except 

where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  In these 

circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or part of the expense.  

 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.  The net amount of GST recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the statement of financial position.  

 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows 

arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are 

classified as operating cash flows. 

 

(m) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted  

 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 

beginning after 1 July 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  None of these 

is expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the Corporation, except for AASB 9 

Financial Instruments, which becomes mandatory for the Corporation’s 2016 financial statements and could 

change the classification and measurement of financial assets.  The Corporation does not plan to adopt this 

standard early and the extent of the impact has not been determined. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

4. GOING CONCERN 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal 

business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 
 

At 30 June 2012, current liabilities amounted to $1,315,665 (2011: $1,238,272) and current assets amounted 

to $1,192,303 (2011: $1,126,991) leaving a shortfall in working capital of $123,362 (2011: $111,281). 
 

As at 30 June 2012, the Corporation had total assets of $2,306,304 (2011: $2,227,686) and total liabilities of 

$1,334,280 (2011: $1,249,818) such that total assets exceeded total liabilities by $972,024 (2011: $977,868).  

Therefore, the Corporation had sufficient assets, although not in a liquid form, to cover the shortfall in 

working capital should no other alternative be available.  However, any solution involving the sale of 

property, plant and equipment would be subject to restrictions which apply to the sale of assets purchased 

with grant funds and would reduce or curtail existing operations.   
 

The majority of the shortfall in the Corporation’s working capital arose some years ago.  Because the 

Corporation is a not-for-profit entity and the majority of its revenue is derived from grants which must be 

expended on specific future projects, there is little opportunity for the Corporation to remedy its working 

capital shortfall.  In the circumstances, the Corporation is able to meet its debts as and when they are payable 

out of grant funds for these future projects. 
 

Accordingly the ability of the Corporation to continue its operations at current levels and continue as a going 

concern is dependent upon future ongoing funding and support being provided by government funding 

bodies.  Such funding and support from the Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and 

Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA), the Corporation’s main funding provider, has been secured until the year 

ending 30 June 2013.  FaHCSIA has advised that there is no reason to expect funding will not continue after 

this date.  Therefore, the directors are confident that the Corporation will continue as a going concern for the 

foreseeable future. 

 

5. DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

 

A number of the Corporation’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 

for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  Where applicable, information about the 

assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 

 

 2012 2011 

  $ $ 

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

Cash at bank 871,566 800,137 

Cash on hand  1,200 1,200 
    
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 872,756 801,337 
    
 

 

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 

Trade receivables 71,253 256,953 

Less: Allowance for impairment losses  - - 
    
  71,253 256,953 

GST receivable 99,152 49,766 

Other debtors 129,813 - 
    
  300,217 306,719 
    
The Corporation’s exposure to credit and currency risk and impairment losses related to trade and other 

receivables is disclosed in Note 11. 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 

 

2012 

Leasehold 

improvements 

$ 

Plant and 

equipment 

$ 

Motor  

vehicles 

$ 

Total 

$ 

At 1 July 2011 
Gross book value 532,031 245,401 323,263 1,100,695  

Accumulated depreciation - - - -  
        
Opening net book value 532,031 245,401 323,263 1,100,695  

 

Additions by purchase - 31,537 287,651 319,188  

Depreciation/amortisation (58,052) (64,938) (67,065) (190,055) 

Disposals by sale - - (115,827) (115,827) 
        
At 30 June 2012 473,979 212,000 428,022 1,114,001 
        
 

Gross book value 532,031 276,938 468,914 1,277,883 

Accumulated depreciation (58,052) (64,938) (40,892) (163,882) 
        
Closing net book value 473,979 212,000 428,022 1,114,001  
        
Carrying amount under the cost model 443,170 27,595 102,488 573,252 
        
 

2011 

 

At 1 July 2010     
Gross book value 560,295 555,379 332,325 1,447,999 

Accumulated depreciation (5,066) (199,203) (132,930) (337,199) 
        
Opening net book value 555,229 356,176 199,395 1,110,800 
 

Additions by purchase 43,100 49,288 197,070 289,458 

Depreciation/amortisation (59,773) (142,967) (70,285) (273,025) 

Disposals by sale - - (54,707) (54,707) 

Revaluation increment/(decrement) (6,525) (17,096) 51,790 28,169 
        
At 30 June 2011 532,031 245,401 323,263 1,100,695 
        
 

Gross book value 532,031 245,401 323,263 1,100,695 

Accumulated depreciation - - - - 
        
Closing net book value 532,031 245,401 323,263 1,100,695 
        
Carrying amount under the cost model 499,200 160,095 92,772 752,067 
        
 

Assets at valuation 

 

The most recent valuation of property, plant and equipment was carried out as at 30 June 2011.  The 

valuation was conducted by Mr John Law of Quaid Auctioneers, a registered, independent appraiser having 

an appropriate recognised qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the property 

being valued.  All assets were subject to the appraisal.  Fair values were determined on the basis of market 

value.  Directors are of the opinion that carrying amounts for leasehold improvements, plant and equipment 

and motor vehicles at 30 June 2012 represent fair values at that date. 
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 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

9. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  

 

Trade creditors 368,510 378,360 

Accruals 137,870 49,580 

PAYG payable 30,411 31,214 

Salaries and wages accrued  70,000 73,049 

Liability for annual leave 162,594 151,767 

Liability for sick leave 122,339 132,165 

Liability for long service leave 72,976 73,796 

Liability for TOIL 46,181 63,278 

Other liabilities - 740 
    
  1,010,882 953,949 

Grant funds unexpended, repayable or in advance 304,783 284,323 
    
  1,315,665 1,238,272 
    
The Corporation’s exposure to liquidity risk related to trade and other payables is disclosed in Note 11. 

 

 

10. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

Non-current 

Liability for long service leave 18,615 11,546 
    
 

The Corporation makes contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans.  The amount recognised 

as an expense was $237,153 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: $196,829). 

 

Long service leave 

 

The provision for long service leave represents the Corporation’s best estimate of the future benefit that 

employees have earned.  The amount and timing of the associated outflows is uncertain and dependant on 

employees attaining the required years of service.  Where the Corporation no longer has the ability to defer 

settlement of the obligation beyond 12 months from the reporting date, liabilities are presented as current 

liabilities in trade and other payables.  This would usually occur when employees are expected to reach the 

required years of service in the 12 months from reporting date. 

 

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

(a) Financial risk management 

 

(i) Overview 
 

The Corporation has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

 credit risk 

 liquidity risk 

 market risk. 

 

This note presents information about the Corporation’s exposure to each of the above risks, its objectives, 

policies and processes for measuring and managing risk.  Further quantitative disclosures are also included in 

this note and throughout these financial statements. 

 

(ii) Risk management framework 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 

framework.   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(b) Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Corporation if a customer or counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Corporation’s receivables 

from customers.  The Corporation does not regularly trade with or have customers, instead amounts shown in 

trade receivables comprise timing differences between expenditures and receipt of reimbursements. 

 

Exposure to credit risk 
 

The carrying amount of the Corporation’s financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.  The 

Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

 

Cash and cash equivalents  872,756 801,337 

Trade and other receivables  300,217 306,719 
    
  1,172,973 1,108,056 
    
 

Trade and other receivables 
 

Approximately 87% (2010: 85%) of the Corporation’s revenue is attributable to Government funding. 
 

The Corporation does not require collateral in respect of trade and other receivables. 
 

The Corporation has considered an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 

respect of trade and other receivables.  This allowance is a specific loss allowance that relates to individually 

significant exposures.  At 30 June 2012, the allowance was nil (2011: nil). 

 

Impairment losses – trade and other receivables 

 

The aging of the Corporation’s trade receivables at the reporting date that were  

not impaired was as follows: 

 

Neither past due nor impaired 286,475 281,891 

Past due 0-30 days 4,220 16,500 

Past due 31-90 days 9,522 - 

Past due 91-120 days - 8,328 
    
  300,217 306,719 
    
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables  

during the year was as follows: 

 

Balance at 1 July  - 152,439 

Allowance for impairment loss released  - (152,439) 
    
Balance at 30 June - - 
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11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

 (c) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

The Corporation’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 

sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Corporation’s reputation. 

 

Typically the Corporation ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected operational 

expenses for a period of 60 days, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential 

impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters.   FaHCSIA 

has confirmed that it will honour, "any normal commercial obligations" that an NTRB may not be able to 

honour in the event of funding being withdrawn. 

 

An unused credit card facility of $20,000 exists at 30 June 2012 (2011: $20,000). 

 

(d) Market risk 

  

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates will affect the Corporation’s 

income.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 

acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

 

(i) Currency risk 

 

The Corporation is not exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, purchases and borrowings. 

 

(ii) Interest rate risk 

 

Due to the industry in which the Corporation operates and its historically low debt levels, the Corporation has 

minimal exposure to interest rate risk.  The Corporation’s policy is that any borrowings are to be minimal. 

 

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

Profile 

 

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Corporation’s 

interest-bearing financial instruments was as follows: 

 

Fixed rate instruments 

Financial assets - - 

Financial liabilities - - 
    

Variable rate instruments 

Financial assets 872,756 801,337 

Financial liabilities - - 
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11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 

(d) Market risk (continued) 

 

Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments 
 

The Corporation does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value through the 

statement of comprehensive income.  Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not 

affect profit or loss. 

 

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
 

A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased (decreased) net 

surplus by the amounts shown below (no direct impact on equity).  This analysis assumes that all other 

variables remain constant.  
 

 100bp  100bp  

 increase decrease 

 $ $ 

2012 

Variable rate bank deposits 8,727 (8,727) 
    

 

2011 
Variable rate bank deposits 8,013 (8,013) 
    

 

(e) Capital management 

 

The Board’s policy is to maintain a capital base sufficient to maintain the confidence of creditors and funding 

bodies and to sustain the growth of the Corporation, future operations and plans.  Capital consists of retained 

surpluses and reserves of the Corporation.  The Board of Directors regularly monitors the Corporation’s 

operating surplus and cash flows. 

 

The Corporation’s net debt to equity ratio at the reporting date was as follows: 

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

 

Total liabilities 1,334,280 1,249,818 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents 872,756 801,337 
    

Net debt 461,524 448,481 
    

 

Total equity 972,024 977,868 
    

 

Net debt to equity ratio at 30 June 0.47 0.46 
    

 

There were no changes in the Corporation’s approach to capital management during the year. 

 

The Corporation is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

(f) Accounting classifications and fair values 

 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities approximate the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 

financial position. 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

12. CAPITAL AND RESERVES  
 

Revaluation reserve 
 

The revaluation reserve relates to property, plant and equipment measured at fair value in accordance with 

applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

Movements in the asset revaluation reserve were as follows 

Balance at 1 July  394,622 359,928 
    
Net adjustment to non-current assets at end of period  

to reflect change in current fair value: 

 Plant and equipment  - (17,096) 

 Motor vehicles  - 51,790 
    
  - 34,694 
    
Balance at 30 June 394,622 394,622 
    
 

Asset revaluation analysis 

The closing balance of the asset revaluation reserve comprises  

the following asset categories: 

 

Plant and equipment 139,582 139,583 

Motor vehicles 255,039 255,039 
    
  394,622 394,622 
    
 

13.  REVENUE 
 

(a) Revenue from government sources 
 

Native title activities 

 Grants received – FaHCSIA  5,480,762 4,775,300 

 Grants received – FaHCSIA 20 year celebrations - 42,000 Grants received – Attorney-General’s Department - 28,214 

 Grants received – DEWHA  5,500 - 

 Grants received – ILC - 43,100 

Unexpended grant balances at the beginning of the year  284,323 158,848 

Unexpended grant balances at the end of the year  (304,783) (284,323) 
    
   5,465,802 4,763,139 
    
(b) Revenue from non-government sources 
 

Recoverable income 675,002 533,742 

Reimbursements received – State land dealings  197,700 256,059 

Sundry income  - 23,053 

Donations  - 5,000 
    
  872,702 817,854 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

14.  EXPENSES  

 

Employee expenses  

 Wages and salaries  1,933,762 1,863,411 

 Superannuation  237,153 196,829 

 Leave and other entitlements  494,925 487,728 

 Staff professional development 39,177 28,274 

 Fringe benefits tax  7,108 2,403 

 Other employee expenses  28,647 54,479 
    
 2,740,773 2,633,124 
    
Supplier expenses 

 Motor vehicle expenses  229,472 123,276 

 Rent and occupancy costs  174,685 137,648 

 Service expenses  2,030,975 1,314,534 

 Supplies  176,643 155,623 

 Travel expenses  854,574 740,466 
    
  3,466,350 2,471,547 
    
Depreciation and amortisation 

 Leasehold improvements 58,052 59,773 

 Plant and equipment 64,938 142,967 

 Motor vehicles 67,065 70,285 
    
 190,055 273,025 
    
Other expenses 

 Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 10,995 - 

 Revaluation decrease on leasehold improvements - 6,525 
     
 10,995 6,525 
    
 

 

15.  OPERATING LEASES 

 

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows: 

 

Less than one year  105,341 107,828 

Between one and five years  175,000 288,170 

More than five years - - 
    
  208,341 395,998 
    
 

During the year ended 30 June 2012 $117,646 was recognised as an expense in respect of operating leases 

(2011: $116,919).   
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 2012 2011 

   $ $ 

16. RECONCILIATION OF CASH FLOWS  

 FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 

Net surplus/(deficit) for the year  (5,844) 265,337 

 

Adjustments for: 

Depreciation  190,055 273,025 

Interest expense - 7,573 

(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 10,995 (5,718) 

Revaluation adjustments - 6,525 
    
Operating surplus before changes in working capital and provisions 195,206 546,742 

 

Change in trade and other receivables  6,502 (103,409) 

Change in prepayments (395) (2,020) 

Change in trade and other payables 77,393 362,649 

Change in provisions and employee benefits 7,069 (4,667) 
    
Net cash from operating activities  285,775 799,295 
    
 

 

17. RELATED PARTIES 

 

Transactions with key management personnel 

 

In addition to their salaries, the Corporation also provides non-cash benefits to key management personnel, 

and contributes to a post-employment defined contribution superannuation fund on their behalf.   

 

(i) Key management personnel compensation 
 

The key management personnel compensation included in ‘employee expenses’ (Note 14) is as follows: 

 

Short-term employee benefits 565,620 495,674 

Other long term benefits - - 

Post-employment benefits 53,581 41,935 

Termination benefits - - 
    
  619,201 537,609 
    
 

(ii) Loans to key management personnel 
 

No loans have been made to key management personnel during the year (2011: nil).  

 

(iii) Other key management personnel and related parties transactions 
 

A number of key management personnel, or their related entities, hold positions in other entities that result in 

them having control or significant influence over the financial or operating policies of those entities.  

 

A number of those entities transacted with the Corporation in the reporting period. 

 

The terms and conditions of the transactions with key management personnel or their related entities were no 

more favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be expected to be available, on similar 

transactions to non-key management personnel related entities on an arm’s length basis. 



Cape York Land Council Annual Report 2011-2012 

 

24 
 

 

CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 
 

17. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Transactions with key management personnel (continued) 

 

(iii) Other key management personnel and related parties transactions (continued) 
 

APN Cape York – Phyllis Yunkaporta and Bruce Martin were directors during the financial year. 

 

Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation Pty Ltd – Gerhardt Pearson, Toby Accoom and Richard 

Tarpencha were directors during the financial year. 

 

Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as trustee for the Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust – Gerhardt Pearson 

and Richard Ah Mat were directors during the financial year. Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as a trustee for 

the Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust owns 100% of the shares of the following entities: 

 Cape York Partnerships for Welfare Reform Pty Ltd 

 Cape York Building Pty Ltd as Trustee for the Cape York Building Unit Trust 

 Balkanu Cape York Development Corporation Pty Ltd 

 Adai Cape York Investments Pty Ltd 
 

Cape York Institute – Richard Ah Mat was a director during the financial year 

 

Cape York Partnerships for Welfare Reform Pty Ltd – Richard Ah Mat was a director during the financial 

year. 
 

Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC – Brian Cobus was chairperson during the financial 

year. 

 

Northern Australian Indigenous Land and Sea Management Alliance – Richard Ah Mat was a director during 

the financial year. 

 

Northern Peninsula Area Regional Council – Bernard Charlie was mayor during the financial year. 

 

Northern Skills Alliance Incorporated – Allan Creek was deputy chairperson during the financial year.  

 

Pormpuraaw Aboriginal Shire Council – Richard Tarpencha was mayor during the financial year. 

 

The aggregate amounts recognised during the year relating to these related parties were as follows: 
 

 Transactions during the  Balances at the end of the  

 financial year financial year 

2012 Income Expenses Debtors Creditors 

 $ $ $ $ 

APN Cape York 440 1,225 440 - 

Balkanu Cape York Development  

Corporation Pty Ltd 333,031 64,680 27,346 20,722 

Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as Trustee  

for Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust - 49,368 - 49,368 

Cape York Partnerships for Welfare  

Reform Pty Ltd 134,076 126,276 440 - 

Cape York Institute 46,925 80,000 33,096 26,667 

Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation 269,002 - - - 

Northern Australian Indigenous Land and 

Sea Management Alliance 13,873 - - - 

Northern Peninsula Area Regional Council - 150 - - 

Northern Skills Alliance Incorporated 440 - - - 

Pormpuraaw Aboriginal Shire Council - 3,786 - 440 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012 

 

 

17. RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Transactions with key management personnel (continued) 

 

(iii) Other key management personnel and related parties transactions (continued) 

 

 Transactions during the  Balances at the end of the  

 financial year financial year 

2011 Income Expenses Debtors Creditors 

 $ $ $ $ 

Apunipima Cape York Health Council  

Aboriginal Corporation 16,065 - 1,172 - 

Balkanu Cape York Development  

Corporation Pty Ltd 394,319 23,927 32,429 - 

Cape York Building Pty Ltd - 100,000  - 

Cape York Corporation Pty Ltd as Trustee  

for Cape York Aboriginal Charitable Trust 18,666 - - - 

Cape York Partnerships for Welfare  

Reform Pty Ltd 142,351 133,751 156,086 104,846 
        
 

 

 

18.  AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION  2012 2011 

 $ $ 

Audit services  

Auditors of the Corporation – KPMG 

 Audit of the financial report  23,500 20,000 
    

Other services  

Auditors of the Corporation – KPMG  

 Other assurance services 6,342 10,195 
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CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION  
 

 

 

 

 

In the opinion of the directors of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (the Corporation): 

 

(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 5 to 25 are in accordance with the Corporations 

(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 2007, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Corporation’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and 

of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; and  

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 

Interpretations), the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Regulations 

2007 and any applicable determinations made by the Registrar of Indigenous Corporations 

under Division 336 of the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006; 

and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Corporation will be able to pay its debts as and 

when they become due and payable.  

 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors: 

 

 

 
____________________________ 

Director 

 

 

Dated at Cairns this 14
th

 day of September 2012. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation (the 

Corporation), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2012, and the statement of 

comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that 

date, notes 1 to 18 comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information and the directors’ declaration. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report  

The directors of the Corporation are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations (Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 

enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error.   

Auditor’s responsibility   

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply 

with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial report.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 

risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 

assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report 

that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We performed the procedures to assess whether in all material respects the financial report presents fairly, in 

accordance with the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 and Australian 

Accounting Standards, a true and fair view which is consistent with our understanding of the Corporation’s 

financial position and of its performance. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion.    

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 

(Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 

 

 
KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network 

of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 

(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

TO THE MEMBERS OF CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION  

(CONTINUED) 

 

 

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion, the financial report of Cape York Land Council Aboriginal Corporation is in accordance with 

the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006, including:   

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Corporation’s financial position as at 30 June 2012 and of its 

performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards  and the Corporations (Aboriginal and Torres Strait 

Islander) Regulations 2007 and any applicable determinations made by the Registrar of Aboriginal 

Corporations under Division 336 of the Act. 

 

 

 

 

KPMG  

 

 

 

 

Graham Coonan  

Partner  

 

Cairns  

14 September 2012  
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LEAD AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION  

UNDER SECTION 339-50 OF THE CORPORATIONS 

(ABORIGINAL AND TORRES STRAIT ISLANDER) ACT 2006 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF CAPE YORK LAND COUNCIL ABORIGINAL CORPORATION 

 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit for the financial year ended 

30 June 2012 there have been: 

 

 No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations (Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander) Act 2006 in relation to the audit; and 

 

 No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

 

KPMG  

 

 

 

 

Graham Coonan  

Partner  

 

Cairns 

14 September 2012  

 
KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network 

of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative 

(“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 

Standards Legislation. 
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